to purchase a bag 

Craig was a 

mulch pallet. This particular Wal-Mart is located in an area 

commonly known for rattlesnakes. rather than taking 

precautions to ensure that such snakes were not a hazard to 

its customers, Respondent Wal-Mart, situated and 

conducted garden business in a that 

enticed snakes unto the property where Wal-Mart expected 

its customers to locate and L~,"",A"L""'L products that they 

were purchasing. 

There is no question that Wal-Mart owes a duty of 

ordinary care to its invitees. The scope of that duty was the 

ultimate question before the trial court. Mr. Craig presented 

evidence, including an expert declaration, establishing that 

Wal-Mart created conditions making the presence of 
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or warn 

contrary 

not 

declaration stating that 

any 

a 

was not 

The trial court vvas required to this cOlnpeting 

evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Craig, the non

moving party. To the contrary, the trial court wholly ignored 

Mr. Craig's evidence and expert's opinions. 

failed to view the evidence under the proper 

trial court 

erred in granting SUlTIlTIary judgment to Wal-Mart. Mr. Craig 

is entitled to have a jury determine whether Wal-Mart 

created the conditions that caused his injury, whether his 

injury was foreseeable, and whether Wal-Mart took 

reasonable precautions to prevent it. Accordingly, Mr. Craig 

respectfully requests this Court reverse the trial court's order 

granting summary judglnent and remand for further 

proceedings. 
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material fact as to whether Wal-Mart's of 

trial court erred in granting Wal-Mart's motion 
for SUlnmary judgment despite significant issues of 
material fact as to whether Mr. Craig's injury was 
foreseeable and whether Wal-Mart took appropriate 
precautions to prevent the injury. 

The trial court erred in determining foreseeability and 
the scope of V/al-tv1art's duty as a matter of law. 

On Friday May 11, 201 Appellant, Mr. Mica Craig, 

travelled to the Clarkston, Washington Wal-Mart to purchase a 

bag of mulch. 199-200. Once he arrived at Wal-Mart, Mr. 

Craig drove to the outdoor garden where the mulch was 

being sold. 

Entering the area where mulch was Inerchandised for sale 

on pallets, Mr. Craig bent down to identify a Id. The 

was 
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on was 15. 

eight (8) 55; 100. 

was unable to of the 

because the display was partially obstructed by what 

appear to be debris. CP 200. Mr. Craig bent down to clear the 

debris with his hand. CP Id. he did so, the object that Mr. 

Craig originally believed was natural debris lunged up and bit 

him, clinging on to his hand. Mr. yelled, shaking 

the snake his hand and stomping on it with his foot. 

Mr. Craig was taken to a nearby clinic, where was Ice 

to treat the bite. 1 77. His hand becan1e very swollen, 

prompting him to seek emergency care at a local hospital, 

where he was admitted. CP 45-46; 57-58. Mr. Craig 

over $100,000 in medical bills. ~ 10. 

Wal-Mart had set up its garden center in the parking lot 

away from the main retail building and adjacent several tracts 

undeveloped land. 21 I 13. was no or 

{00229!!6;! } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 4 



habitat for are varIOUS 

names that 217. 

Rattlesnakes are known to be more active the and 

summer months when they have left their winter dens. 196. 

The garden is in place from the months of March to July. 

CP 70. Various Wal-Mart managers and employees testified 

that rodenthnouse (a common source food snakes) 

sightings are a cominon occurrence at Wal-Mart. 69-70; 

86; CP 102; CP 114. Mousetraps are up not only· the 

main building, but also on the property periineter. CP 70. On 

the date of Mr. Craig's snakebite incident, the pallets in 

garden center were spaced only 6-8" apart, when 1 18" is the 

policy. 55· , 100; CP 103. Although not specific to the 

Clarkston location, many other of Wal-Mart's chain stores 

across country had reported incidents of customer 

{00229116;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 5 



snakebites, 

The standard of review of an order summary judglnent 

is de novo, with the appellate court performing the same inquiry 

as the trial court. ~~~~~~~~~ 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 

78 P.3d 1274, 1276 (2003); Young v. l(ey Pharmaceuticals, 

112 216, 226, 770 182 (1989). a 

summary judgment, "all facts and reasonable inferences are 

considered in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, 

while all questions of law are reviewed de novo." Cowlitz Stud 

157 Wn.2d 569, 573, 141 P.3d 1, 3 (2006). 

The moving party must first show the absence of an issue of 

material fact. 
~-'--'---'~/ 

burden then shifts to the 

non-moving party to set forth specific facts showing a genuine 

issue for trial. rd., citing 56( e). court Inust deny sumlnary 

judgment a party raises a .eLL""""...., ... dispute. __ / 

{00229116J} APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 6 



1 

381 a 

material 

reasonable 

__ / at 486. A genuine is one upon which 

may a fact is one 

controlling the litigation's outcome. :.;:;.;:;.;;,.. _____ ---'-'--"'-.::...:::===.7 181 Wn. 

App. 67, 90, 325 P.3d 306, 317 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 3 2014), 

affinned at 184 Wn.2d 358, citing Morris v. McNicol, 83 

Wn.2d 491, 494, 519 

164 Wn.2d , 5 192 886 (2008). 

reasonable persons might reach a different conclusion, the 

motion should be denied. 

Chicken, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 255, 6] 6 P.2d 644 (1980). 

"Summary judgment procedure ... is a liberal measure, 

liberally designed for arriving at the truth. Its purpose is not to 

cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury if they really 

have evidence which they will offer on a trial, it is to carefully 

test this out, advance of trial by inquiring and determining 

such " 86-87, 
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(1 

sUlnmary IS trial 

not useless, absolutely a 

"'"',,-'''-' •. uu . ...., issue as to any material fact." =='::"":::"=7 ~,:....;;;:..:.. (internal 

citations omitted); Babcock v. State, 116 Wn.2d 596, 599, 809 

P.2d 1 (1991) ("Summary judgment exists to examine the 

sufficiency of legal clailns and narrow issues, not as an unfair 

substitute trial. Only where reasonable Ininds could reach 

but one conclusion from the admissible facts in 

summary judgment be granted. ="::":":::"':"=-'::"'::':::'-~-=-=';:"':'::""::'=-7 

may 

112 Wn.2d 

193, 199, 770 1027 (1989). Where different, competing 

inferences may be drawn from the evidence, the issue must be 

re so I v ed by the tri er 0 f fact. ....:........:.~:...=.=..::.;;....;...~==-=-=---'--'----=-...:...=.....:::..::::.-.:;:...::::...;.-=-=..J. 

127 Wn. App. 309, 320, 111 866, 871 (Wash. Ct. 

App. Div. 1 2005), citing ~~~~~~.L' 73 Wn.2d 880, 

889,441 (1968). 
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supra at 

,3 ,588 1346, 13 (1 

created by affidavit of plaintiffs engineering witness in a 

light IUOSt favorable to plaintiff, we are satisfied it created an 

issue of material fact which necessitated the denial of summary 

judgment."); also Smith, supra at 486 (sulumary judgment 

reversed after wrong standard applied). 

Mr. Craig subluitted admissible evidence establishing the 

existence of I"-, .... " .. -'''''" ........ ll issues of material fact as to whether Wal-

Mart created the conditions that caused Mr. Craig's injury, 

whether Wal-Mart had a duty to protect its customers from the 

existence of rattlesnakes on its property, whether Wal-Mart 

breached that duty, and whether W al-Mart took proper 

precautions to its customers. Clearly reasonable minds 

can disagree as the parties each submitted "'''<T''-'Clo'''''''- declarations 

containing opposing opinions on Issues. 

(00229116;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 9 



was 

~~~, 91 Wn.2d at 3 

snakebite 

A plaintiff in a negligence case must establish (1) a duty, 

(2) a breach of that duty, (3) a resulting injury, and (4) 

proxinlate cause between the breach and the injury. Tincani v. 

P.2d 621 (1994). 

is a question 

premises liability, 

Wn.2d 121,1 128, 875 

threshold detennination of whether a duty 

law. at 128. actions' 

plaintiff s status as an 

licensee, or trespasser determines the scope of the duty of care 

owed by the owner or occupier of the premises to the plaintiff." 

~~~~~~~~~~, 83 App. 556, 922 P.2d 

171 (Wash. Ct. Div. 1 1996). It is undisputed that Mr. 
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was an 177. was a 

care. 1. 

1 Wn.2d 84, 915 1089 (1996), 

our the of care 

by the possessor of land to invitees by adopting Restatement 2d 

of Torts § 343. The Restatement states that a landowner is 

liable for harm caused to its invitees by a condition on its land 

if it: 

knows or the of reasonable care 
would discover condition, and should 
realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of 
harm to such invitees, and 

(b) should expect that they will not discover or 
realize the danger, or will fail to protect 
thelTISelves against and 

(c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect 
them against the danger. 

Id., at 96. 

1. Where there is evidence that Wal-Mart's mode of 

{00229116;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - II 



cases. laid 

by . Court: 

An owner or occupier of land may be liable to an 
invitee for injuries resulting from a dangerous 
condition on the land of which the owner or 
occupier does not have actual or constructive 
knowledge if (1) the specific unsafe condition is 
foreseeably inherent in the nature of the owner's or 
occupier's business or lTIode operation or (2) 
owner or occupier caused the hazardous condition. 

2d of Torts § 343. This has beCOlTIe known as 

~~~~ exception." 

Supreme 

as 

100 

Wn.2d 39, 49, 666 888 (1983), clarified the approach 

under the two exceptions stating as follows: 

This not change the general rule governing liability 
for failure to maintain premises in a reasonably safe 
condition: the unsafe condition lTIUst either be caused by 

proprietor or his employees, or proprietor 
have actual or constructive notice the unsafe condition. 

notice be shown, 

{00229!!6;! } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 12 



Mart created the conditions that caused Mr. 
Craig's rattlesnake bite injury. 

The trial court was required to view the evidence on 

sumlnary judglnent, and all reasonable 1'1" ,-r01"or..noC' therefrom, 

the light most favorable to Craig. Where reasonable 

the . court 

have denied the motion. l(linke, 94 Wn.2d at 256-257. 

Wal-Mart had set up garden in the parking lot 

away from the main building and adjacent to several tracts of 

undeveloped land. 211 13. There was no or other 

barrier between the parking loti garden center and 

Id. area is so comlnonly 

known as a habitat for that are 

{00229116;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 13 



names 1 

are more 

summer Inonths they are leaving their 

1 IS place March 

70. Rodent/mouse sightings are a common occurrence 

at Wal-Mart, thus providing a source of food snakes. CP 69-

70; CP 86; CP 102; 114. 

Although not specific to the Clarkston store, In any other 

ofWal-Mart's chain stores across the '-''V',., .. .L.'-'-.'-
have had V'A..,.."",,,,-t-f,,rI 

of customer snakebites, specifically in garden 

centers. W a1-Mart's garden center is a 

operation that requires the customers to handle own mulch 

and other products. 54-55; 70-72. On the date Mr. Craig 

was bitten, the pallets in the garden center were spaced only 

8" apart, when 1 18" is policy. 55' , 100' , 103. 

setting up the garden center in the parking lot location 

near undeveloped land, in an area known rattlesnakes, 

are cOlnmonp1ace, are 

{002291 16;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 14 



own 

Wal-Mart caused conditions that caused to 

con1e 

snakebites are common In its W al-Mart still 

chose to arrange garden center in this location and manner 

and not to provide any signage warning customers of 

danger. 

a In and 

Biology with specific knowledge and expertise related to 

rattlesnake ecology, habitat use behavior. 194. 

Beck prepared and presented an affidavit in support of Mr. 

Craig's opposition to Wal-Mart's Motion Summary 

Judgment. 194-196. Mr. Beck testified that these above-

described conditions were factors in the presence of the snake 

that bit Mr. Craig, creating a material question of fact as to 

whether Wal-Mart caused the conditions that resulted in his 

{00229116;l} APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 15 



was no to 

care or reason 

dangerous acts by wild ~~~~~~A""".UJ or were about to 

occur." IS a 

material as to W al-Mart VUl~uV·'-l. 

conditions resulting in the injury. Restatement 2d of Torts, § 

; Pimental, supra, at 49. Viewing facts and all 

reasonable inferences in Mr. Craig's favor, the trial court erred 

also a material question as to whether Mr. 

Craig's injury was foreseeable, such that Wal-Mart had a duty 

to take precautions to prevent it. described in the previous 

section, the 

establish actual or 

exception (precluding the need to 

notice a dangerous condition) 

includes circumstances under nature the 

{00229116;! } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 16 



are 

custolner 

owner or 

condition or had actual or knowledge of the 

condition when, given the nature of the business and its actual 

methods of operation, the condition was continuous or 

reasonab ly f oreseea b Ie." -'-'------'--'--_--'--'--_--"-.:l--_ 116 

805 793 (1991). 

therefore, is what determines the and of the land 

possessor's duty. ~=::"":";~-'--'---~----'~:;;;l7 76 Wn.2d ,268, 

P.2d 355 (1969). 

1. The scope ofWal-Mart's duty is a jury question. 

While the existence of a duty is a question of law based 

on considerations of public policy, H[ 0 ]nce this initial 

determination of legal duty is made, the jury's function is to 

thus scope 
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of that 35 

33 1 1 

929, 933, 653 

(1982). 

plaintiff raises questions of fact as to foreseeability. 

supra, at 102. 

Neither party located or identified a Washington case on 

all fours and instead cited to out of state authority with closer 

factual scenarios. cases without unusual combination of 

circumstances present here, sumlnary judgment on the issue of 

foreseeability may be appropriate. 

558 S.W.2d 58, 61-62 (Tex. Civ. App. San 

Antonio 1977). In ~-=-=-=-=.:::...::-.:;....::., the court found a retailer not 

liable for a snakebite where there was no evidence that the 

defendant or employees knew of the presence of the snake in 

store. However, the Overstreet court explained that· there 

vias "evidence to support the inference that defendant had 

reason know that the snake was present or reasonably 

{00229116; I} APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 18 



a In 

appropriate. at 

its analysis, 

--'---'-....:..c-...,L-______ '------;! 311 853 (6th Cir. 1962), a case where 

such evidence capable of supporting an inference did exist and 

created a duty. (rat bite foreseeable and hotel had duty to 

prevent injury where there was evidence of the presence of rats 

alley adjoining hotel and on sidewalk front 

the hotel, but no rats had even been seen inside the hotel). 

~~~ case is the closest factual scenario to the one before 

this Court. 

2. 
potential for snakebite injuries in the garden center 
was a foreseeable risk and whether Wal-Mart took 
proper precautions. 

As to foreseeability, the trial court held: 

Nothing this case indicates that there was any relation 
the snake which inflicted injury and 

Walmart's mode of operation of its business. has 
been no evidence produced that Walmart enticed or 
encouraged patrons to handle snakes in garden 

{00229116J} APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 19 



as 

CP 274 (emphasis added). Ironically, as outlined in the previous 

section, this is exactly the evidence that Mr. Craig presented 

business operations (that Wal-Mart's .LoLL"" .... "" 

running of the garden snake activity an 

area customers were likely to encounter them); the trial 

court appears to have prematurely and improperly weighed the 

credibility of the parties' experts on this exact and ultilnate 

issue of fact. See ~~~~-=--.!..~, 85 Wn. App. 828, 935 

P.2d 637, 640-641 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 3 1997) ("Sumlnary 

judgment is proper when reasonable persons looking at all the 

evidence could reach only one conclusion. Summary 

IS more 
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1 

1 13 141 (1 

966 (1963) ... the court should not 

hearing. If such issue is present, the motion should be denied. 

An issue of credibility is present if there is contradictory 

evidence or the lTIOVant's evidence is impeached.") 

The trial court also asked the wrong question in denying 

evidence of snakes being seen on exact prelTIises. The 

correct question is, based upon Wal-Mart's mode of business 

operations in the garden center, given the common knowledge 

of rattlesnakes in the vicinity, and numerous occurrences of 

snakebites at its other garden locations, was it 

foreseeable that snakes could be present and did Wal-Mart take 

reasonable, or any, precautions to avoid endangering its 

customers. 

owner a self-service establishment has actual 
notice that his of operation 
harm his custolTIers. a self-service operation 

{00229116;1} APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 21 



it r>L.ld·'''VY'I 

'-'-'_"'",'-L""''- the proprietor has taken all 
his 

100 Wn.2d at ,citing ~~~~~~~~, 13 

Wn. App. 815, 820-821, 537 850, reView denied, 86 

Wn.2d 1002 (1975). 

Contrary to the trial court's holdings as stated above, the 

parties affidavits and establishing the 

fo Howing undisputed facts (citations to the record located 

above) that Inade the possibility of rattlesnakes the 

garden and customers handling 

their products foreseeable. 

- the garden center was set apart from the main store in 
the parking lot near several tracts of undeveloped 
land; 

- the garden center was set up during March - July, the 
time of year that rattlesnakes are moving outside 

{00229116;l } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 22 



IS In an area "-''-'.L..L.'-..L . .L.,L as 

was a or 
other barrier from the undeveloped tracts; 

rodent/mouse sightings are common 
the pallets in garden """""'..L.L,,'-'-'. 

encountered were stacked too close together such a 
manner as to provide a hiding place for snakes; and 

the garden center is self-service, such that customers 
are required to pick up their products directly from the 
pallets. 

Dr. opined that the above circumstances would increase 

likelihood of encounters with snakes and other potentially 

dangerous pests and that Wal-Mart failed to take reasonable 

precautions to address that risk. 1 196. That Wal-Mart's 

stated otherwise is of no consequence as the 

opinion testimony falls directly in the province of the jury, not a 

trial judge on summary judgInent. 

Despite this perfect storm of conditions to attract 

rattlesnakes to the Wal-Mart garden center-conditions created 

by did even the care put 

{00229116;1 } APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 23 



or some 

s lTIere 

property is not dispositive. LJ~'J'-'",-," upon all 

reasonable inferences therefrolTI, when viewed in the light lTIOst 

favorable to the non-lTIoving party, reasonable people could 

disagree as to whether Wal-Mart knew of or should have 

T.n.rt::>'C'<::>'C:lI.l1 the danger, but did to its patrons. 

animals 

trial court further suggested that the doctrine of 

nature a (wild game) dictated a finding of "no duty 

to control the State's snake's lTIOVements." CP 274; 

~~~~~~~~~~~~, 318 Ga. App. 760, 761, 

6 S.E.2d 140, 141 (Ga. Ct. App. 2012) ("where there is 

evidence from which a jury could find that the defendant should 

have anticipated the presence of wild animal and that it was 

reasonably foreseeable that its presence would the 

for' the defendant will 
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as a on 

the above facts 

disagree on whether the possibility rattlesnake encounters 

was foreseeable and whether it was reasonable for Wal-Mart to 

forego any precautions or warnings whatsoever. The trial court 

may determine an event as unforeseeable as a matter of law 

as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability. Otherwise, 

question of foreseeability a question the trier fact. 

______ / 77 Wn. App. 934, 894 P.2d 1366 (Wash. 

ct. App. 1 1995); --,f"._/ at 1 02 ("Summary judgment 

shall denied if the plaintiff raises questions of fact as to 

foreseeability. The undisputed evidence of multiple 

snakebites occurring at other Wal-Mart garden centers nullifies 

prospect of establishing the risk as "highly extraordinary or 

as to beyond the range of expectability." 
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same 

trial s order 

§ 344 as by for 

summary judgment. However, even if § 344 did apply and the 

trial court had granted Wal-Mart's motion on that basis, it 

would be subj ect to the exact saIne analysis of foreseeability 

described above for Restatement of Torts § 343. 

344 the Restatement of Torts states: 

possessor of land who holds it open to the public for 
entry for his business purposes is subject to liability to 
members of the public while they are upon the land for 
such a purpose, for physical harm caused by 
accidental, negligent, or intentionally harmful acts of 
third persons or animals, and by the failure of the 
possessor to exercise reasonable care to 

{00229116:1 } 

(a) discover that such acts are being done or are likely 
to be done, or 

(b) give a warning adequate enable the visitors to 
avoid the hann, or otherwise to protect them 
against 
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1 

1, 

behavior, not animal Court 

goes on state that language section 344 

inquiry to whether the specific acts in question were 

foreseeable rather than whether the landowner should have 

anticipated any act froin a broad array of possible criminal 

behavior or from past infonnation from any source that some 

unspecified harm is likely." 667. 

As with § 343, Washington courts have detennined 

applying Restatement 2d of Torts § 344 that an act Inay be 

deemed unforeseeable as a matter of law "only if the occurrence 

is so highly extraordinary or hnprobable as to be wholly beyond 

the range of expectability." As discussed above, other such 

siinilar occurrences at Wal-Mart garden centers nullify that 

scenario. Regardless of whether under Restatement section 343 

or 344, the question of foreseeability remains a question for 

of fact. 
----~~------~~~~--~ 
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(1 at 

described In the preVIOUS section, the evidence 

presented and upon by Mr. 

foreseeability here, under conditions actually created by 

Mart, unquestionably Ineets the Ininimal legal threshold 

necessary to survive summary judgment. 

v. CONCLUSION 

Craig his burden of establishing 

issues of material fact as to whether, under the particular facts 

and circumstances present here, Wal-Mart created the 

conditions that caused the injury, the injury was foreseeable, 

and Wal-Mart had a duty to take reasonable precautions to 

protect hiIn from a rattlesnake bite in its garden center. 

The trial court erred in its application of the law and its 

failure to view the facts and all reasonable inferences in the 

light most favorable to the non~moving party, Mr. 

reverse 
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this of 

M. Bremner, WSBA # 13269 
K.aren Cobb, WSBA #34958 
Evan Bariault, \VSBA #42867 
1200 Avenue, Suite 1900 
Seattle, WA 98101 
Telephone: (206) 486-8000 
Facsimile: (206) 902-9660 

Attorneys for Appellant Mica Craig