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

this case, there is no evidence as to how long snake had 

been present. If there are any inferences in this case, it is that any snake 

could only have been present for a few moments because Maria Geffre 

was in the same area just moments before the incident and she did not 

see any snakes. 1 138. Mr. Torrelli and 

inspected and cleaned the premises at least twice the morning before the 

bite, and as late as 9:00 am - 10:00 am. 107. Again, subject 

case, plaintiff has offered no evidence as to how long the snake had been 

present, such as to give to the store, or otherwise. 

There are no cases in Washington with a similar fact pattern. 

However, and not surprisingly, there are similar fact patterns in cases 

arising out of the Southern United States. When put together, the cases 

stand for proposition that premises owners are not liable with regard 

to insects or animals found artificial structures or places they are 

not normally such as, stores, hotels, apartment houses, if 



not a reason to 

1 ,606 
---------------------~----

W .. r,rl1-,,,, ... rI v. Louisiana 

(Louisiana 1992); Robison ---------- 441 (Alabama 1995). 

courts reach a so 

landowner knew or should have known of the unreasonable of 

harm posed by an insect or wild animals. DeLuce v. Fort 

Wayne Hotel, 311 F .2d 853 (6th Cif. 1962) (remanding for new trial 

where presence of rats in an alley to an adjoining hotel and on the 

sidewalk in front of it created fact question on the hotel operator's duty 

to protect guests from a foreseeable event, such as rats entering through 

doors); ______ _ 598 P.2d 969 (Alaska 1979) (reversing 

summary judgment and remanded for trial on fact issue of state's 

knowledge of bears I presence, danger posed by them, and foreseeability 

of attack in the location where trash was left uncollected); '---""""ILI""'-'L Inc. 

v. Sniderman, 466 2d 457 (Colo. 1970) (finding the defendant's 

5 There is also support for the conclusion that the landowner has no duty to protect 
against attacks by indigenous animals or insects. For instance, the Restatement (Second) 
of Torts provides that an owner or occupier of land is not normally liable for injury to 
others as a result of an attack by a wild animal indigenous to the area, even when the 
owner or occupier captured the animal and it later escaped. Restatement (Second) of 
Torts § 508. 



A 

nr"""'::>110,::> of rat the room put on 

Texas Court of Appeals considered the duty of 

a property owner to protect invitees from the harm posed by a 

rattlesnake. Overstreet v. Gibson Product Co. 558 

S 2d 58 (1977). 

a customer was bitten by a rattlesnake while 

shopping for groceries a store operated by the defendant. After a 

verdict for the plaintiff, the trial court granted a 

no twi ths tanding verdict denying recovery and plaintiff appealed. 

Id. at 59. At the time of the incident, no employee of the defendant was 

in the aisle where the bite occurred, but two of defendant's employees 

had been in the area a short time before plaintiff was injured. Id. at 60. 

was also evidence that rattlesnakes were indigenous to the area 

where the store was located. Id. In affirming the trial court, the Court 

of Appeals analyzed duty of defendant Restatement 

(Second) Torts § 

21 



at 61. 

it to 
purposes is 

to 

However, since a possessor is not an insurer 
safety of his business guests, he is 

no to such care until knows 
or has reason to dangerous acts 
by wild animals are occurring or about to 
occur. There is no evidence that the defendant, 
or any of its employees, new of the presence 
of the snake in the store. The question, then, 
is whether there is evidence to support the 
inference that defendant had reason to know 
that the snake was present or might reasonably 
expect to be present, thus creating a danger 
for a person in plaintiff's class. We find 
nothing in the record to suggest that defendant 
knew, or had reason to know from past 
experience, that there was a likelihood that 
snakes presented a danger to patrons of the 
store. 

The court went further stating: 

It is not readily apparent that the rule applied 
in Rosas and Adam Dante differs markedly 
from the rule embodied in Restatement § 344. 
If we view the presence of the rattlesnake in 
the store as creating the danger, the question 
of liability depends on whether or not it may 
be reasonably inferred that the condition 
existed for such length of time as would give 
defendant a reasonable opportunity to discover 

[citation omitted]. It may be, as 
contends, that very little evidence is required 



ld. at 62. 

court was ---- to out plaintiff's 

claims were based on negligence, and plaintiff's argument for the 

imposition of liability without notice would result strict liability, 

which "is not the law." ld. at 60-61. 

Similarly, the Court of Appeals of Louisiana considered a fact 

pattern strikingly similar to . Craig's case. Bradford v. Louisiana 

Downs, Inc., 606 SO.2d 1370 (Louisiana 1992). Bradford, a patron 

was injured in a parking lot of a race track when he was bitten by a 

copperhead snake. The court first addressed the duty of the landowner 

and determined that" [i]n order to recover from an owner or custodian of 

immovable property, under a negligence theory, the plaintiff must show 

that the owner or custodian knew or should have known of an 

unreasonable risk of harm posed by the property." Id. at 1375 (citations 

omitted). The court held as follows: 

In case, is no showing that the 
defendant had a duty to the plaintiff 



at 1375. 

by snakes was a foreseeable 
In the affidavits and depositions attached 

to the defendant's motion for summary 
judgment, it was that although 
more than 17 million 
the racetrack, plaintiff was the only person 
ever to report having been bitten by a snake. 
The affidavits also established that the parking 
lot was regularly patrolled by security 
personnel and parking lot employees and that 
none of these employees ever reported seeing 
a snake on the parking lot. The steps taken by 
the defendant in patrolling the parking lot 
were reasonable in view of the low probability 
of injury to patrons from snake bites. 

The facts of this case are indistinguishable from Overstreet and 

----' 
as is by the following portions plaintiff's 

deposition testimony. 

Question: ... Mr. Craig, do you know where 
the snake came from? 
Answer: I have no clue. 

Question: Do you have any evidence that it 
was placed there by an employee of Wal
Mart? 
Answer: I do not. 
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to 
11, 

Question: On how many occasions? 
Answer: Many, . I go to it 

day, to 

had you ever seen a snake 
Answer: No. 

Question: Have you ever heard of the snake 
being on the premises there? 
Answer: No. 

Question: Since the day of the incident, May 
11, 2012, have you ever seen a snake on the 
premises there? 
Answer: No. 

Question. Do you know how long the snake 
was present at the W al-Mart store? 
Answer: No. 

Question: .,. Do you have any evidence that 
any Wal-Mart employee knew of the presence 
of the snake before the bite? 
[Objection] 
Answer: No. 

Question: Do you have any evidence about 
the last time a Wal-Mart employee had been 
through that area where the bite occurred? 
[Objection] 
Answer: 
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I say "that area," 
talking about snake 

[Objection] 

Question: What, if anything, do you know 
about the inspection policies that were 
employed before you came to the store on 
May 11, 2012? 
Answer: Nothing. 

Question: Do you have any evidence that the 
inspection policies and procedures that were 
employed on May 11, 2012, were somehow 
not carried out by the employees of Wal-Mart? 
[Objection] 
Answer: I don't. 

Question: Okay. Mr. Craig, in your mind, 
what did Wal-Mart do wrong? 
[Objection] 
Answer: I don't know what the laws are, but I 
know if a guy is sitting shopping for 
sOlnething of their rnerchandise, I should not 
have to worry about being bit by something, 
being hurt by anything, or my grandkids, my 
grandparents, anybody should have to worry. 

I'm shopping something theirs, 
they're responsible to keep me safe. 

'--'LL1LJ.L1Uul.hJ added). 



are 

responsible to me is not Landowners 

are not guarantors of safety of and can only be liable 

for hazardous conditions upon the property when they knew or should 

known hazard. of § 

is no actual or constructive notice of the presence 

rattlesnake on the premises. Thus, there is no duty to exercise 

reasonable care to protect invitees from the unknown danger posed by a 

rattlesnake. Viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the 

evidence does no more than establish that a particular species of 

rattlesnakes is indigenous to area, but there is still no TH'<-'Tll· .... that 

any rattlesnake ever ventured onto the premises, either before or after 

May 11, 2012. 

Wal-Mart Created No Unsafe Condition, so Craig Must Prove 
Notice. 

Craig claims that he does not have to show actual or constructive 

notice because the Pimentel self-service exception applies, which 

requires him to show that the danger of rattlesnakes was continuous or 

foreseeably inherent W al-Mart's mode of operation. narrow 

self-service" or exception excuses a business invitee 



an 

nature business or however, courts have 

applied this exception only to self-service establishments, and the 

must to 

business. v. Bertolino's App. 

183, 100 Wn.2d 

39,40,666 P.2d 888 (1983); Ingersoll v. DeBartolo, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 

649, 653-54, 869 P.2d 1014 (1994). 

107 Wn.App. 854, 858-59,28 3d 799 (2001). 

The exception applies here only if Craig can show that (1) 

Garden Center operation was self-service, (2) it created a 

reasonably foreseeable hazardous condition, and (3) the hazardous 

condition that caused the injury was within the self-service area. 6 

107 Wn.App. at 859. 

Self-service departments are areas of a store where customers 

service themselves, or where customers otherwise perform duties that the 

6 Craig argues that snake bites in other Wal-Mart stores across the country make this 
incident "foreseeable." First, foreseeability is not the question when it comes to 
triggering a legal duty. Notice triggers duty, not foreseeability. Second, the Pimentel 
exception requires a plaintiff to demonstrate the unsafe condition was reasonably 
foreseeable "in the area in which she fell. " Arment v. Kmart, 79 Wn. App. 694, 698, 902 
P.2d 1254 (1995). 
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s at 

areas, customers remove 

at 

0' 'VAAA.J'....," ... 107 Wn.App. at 856, injured 

on a VAA"-'''''A''-'V ....... aisle a 

grocery store where customers were responsible for unloading 

grocery iterI1s from their grocery carts onto the conveyor belt at the 

checkout stand. Id. at 857. There, the court applied the Pimentel 

exception because the checkout aisle was a self-service area and the 

hazard of produce on the floor was reasonably foreseeable and related to 

the self-service nature of the checkout aisle. Id. at 858-59. contrast, 

Wilste v. Albertson' Inc. 116 Wn.2d 452, 460, 805 P.2d 793 

(1991), plaintiff slipped and fell on water that had dripped from a 

leak in the store's roof. The court refused to apply the Pimentel 

exception because the hazard was unforeseeable and in no way related to 

the store's self-service operation. 116 Wn.2d at 456. 

Craig has failed to establish the record that the Garden "--'v .... v'-' .. 

was a self-service area. Specifically, he has not shown that customers 

"served themselves" in the Wal-Mart garden center; and he has 

presented no evidence that customers the 



s 

to 

Craig has 

nature 

s business. are multiple witnesses who have testified that 

there has never been an incident where a rattlesnake bit a customer. No 

customer ever complained about a rattlesnake injury prior to Mr. Craig. 

Mr. Craig has not shown there is anything inherently dangerous about 

operating a garden center in the parking 10t. 7 

Affidavit Does Not an 

Plaintiff's expert's declaration alleges that Clarkston has an 

indigenous species of rattlesnake. Beck goes further to opine that 

snakes have been reported "in the vicinity" or "near Wal-Mart." 

does not say it is reasonably foreseeable that a rattlesnake would pose a 

hazard to customers at the Garden Center; rather, states that it is 

7 Craig argues, with no evidentiary support, that the spacing of the pallets in the Garden 
Center created areas for a snake to hide. There is no evidence that the snake was ever 
present or hiding in the pallets. That is pure speculation. There is no testimony that the 
configuration of the pallets caused or contributed to Mr. Craig's injury. To the contrary, 
the snake was open and obvious as evidenced by Mr. Craig's testimony that he saw the 
snake and mistook it for a stick, prior to reaching down and grabbing it with his hand. 



a move 

" 

Tn .. ·.- .... £"' .. to state it is 

would been "accessible" to snakes. does not provide the court 

,",uv.u.v'-' on May 11, 20 was 

foreseeable, or that Wal-Mart knew or should have known of its 

presence. Interestingly, both the expert and Craig's counsel attempt to 

demonstrate that the Garden Center had places that a snake "might" 

hide. However, that position has no relevance and should be given no 

weight because there is no evidence that the snake that bit Mr. Craig was 

hiding a pallet. Quite to the contrary, as Craig approached 

snake, observed it. mistook it for a stick. allegation that 

was lying wait a trap set by Wal-Mart is simply not supported 

by the evidence in the record. 

Wal-Mart's motion for summary judgment hinges on the lack of 

notice of the presence of a rattlesnake on it premises, as described herein 

great detail. In support of this motion, Wal-Mart submitted 

declaration of rattlesnake behavior expert, Prof. Kardong of 

Kardong expressed following undisputed 
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It is on 
rattlesnake activity at the Clarkston, Washington 
Mart prior to this was no reason 

to a 
Wal-Mart's 

operation of Garden Center did not create or worsen 
any risk of rattlesnake activity, rather Wal-Mart's 
conduct of sweeping the Garden '-",.d.J.'-'-'J. 

deposition risk, to 
minimal extent it exists. 

Plaintiff's expert, Prof. Beck, does not offer any testimony to 

refute this opinion. Nowhere in his declaration does he claim that Wal-

Mart knew or should have known that this rattlesnake would be present 

on its premises. Prof. Beck takes great length to describe the travel 

habits of rattlesnakes living near Clarkston, but his testimony fails to 

establish that Wal-Mart should have known that such travel habits would 

lead a snake to be present on its property, since in the years leading up 

to this incident no such event had ever occurred. Any connection would 

be based on pure speculation. 

Just like we know snakes are nrt=.C't:>t,r in Clarkston just 

as sharks are present in the ocean. However, liability for bites of sharks 

or snakes can only be established if the land owner had a duty to protect 



a owner or 

A possessor of land is under a duty to use reasonable care to 

since the possessor is not an of the safety of his , he is 

under no duty to exercise such care, in the case of wild animals, until he 

knows or has reason to know that dangerous acts by wild animals are 

occurring or are about to occur. Such requisite knowledge is absent 

here, thus no duty exists. 

this day of June 2016. 

DANSKIN, S. 

By: _____ ~~+_~~---------------
Troy Y. 
601 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 1500 
Spokane, WA 99201 
Telephone: (509) 747-2052 
Facsimile: (509) 624-2528 
Attorneys for Respondent